IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2007-CA-00228

1704 21ST AVENUE, LTD.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CITY OF GULFPORT, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

H. M. YOSTE, JR.
Mississippi Bar
Post Office Box 353
Gulfport, Mississippi 39502-0353
Telephone 228-864-7144
Facsimile 228-864-7145
E-mail hyoste@gcwcfn.org
Attorney for Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2007-CA-00228

1704 21ST AVENUE, LTD.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CITY OF GULFPORT, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Did the Circuit Court err on appeal when it ruled that Waters Mark's claim was governed by the Tort Claims Act?
- 2. Did the County Court err at trial when it denied prejudgment interest?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS, AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

This is a suit against the City of Gulfport for return of moneys paid in error by 1701 21st Avenue, Ltd., a corporation owning an apartment complex known as "Waters Mark." (The corporate entity will also be referred to by the complex name.) Waters Mark paid for garbage pick-up service when the apartment complex had a separate contract with the city's garbage collector for those services. Waters Mark sued the city for \$18,342.72 on the theories of money had and received and unjust enrichment and demanded prejudgment interest.

While the city originally defended on the theory that it was protected by an internal policy limiting refunds to six months, it later amended its answer asserting numerous defenses, but primarily that the claim was subject to the sovereign immunity the city enjoyed. After a lengthy period of motions and arguments to the county court, the defense of sovereign immunity was denied and the case was tried to a jury. The jury returned a verdict for the requested amount of \$18,342.72. The court declined to award prejudgment interest to Waters Mark, but did authorize interest from the date of judgment at 8% per annum.

The city appealed to the Circuit Court and Waters Mark cross-appealed on the issue of prejudgment interest.

The Circuit Court ruled that the action was included within the bar of claims against public entities granted by the Mississippi Tort Claims Act.

FACTS

During the period from March 2, 1999, through May 2, 2001, the City of Gulfport charged garbage collection fees to 1701 21st Avenue, Ltd. ("Waters Mark), in the amount of \$23,345.28 on two separate accounts for the Waters Mark Apartments located in Gulfport, Mississippi. During all that time, Waters Mark had an independent contract with BFI, the contractor who picked up all of the garbage at the apartment complex. Waters Mark paid that contractor for the garbage pickup directly. Transcript, pp. 74-84 and 90-91.¹

While the city also used BFI to collect garbage, the city did not provide any services for the charges that it was making to Waters Mark. Transcript, p. 71. After Waters Mark realized that it was paying twice for the same services,² it made demand to the city for a refund. Transcript, p. 91. In response, the city issued a credit/refund of \$5,002.56, representing six months of the duplicate collection. The city explained that it was municipal policy to adjust water/sewer/garbage fees for no more than six months. Transcript, p. 95. After that credit, Waters Mark was owed \$18,342.72. Transcript, p. 96.

¹ The trial transcript in County Court will be referred to simply as Transcript, with a reference to the pages. The County Court record of pleadings will be referred to as County Record, with a reference to the pages. The Circuit Court record of pleadings will be referred to as Circuit Record, with a reference to the pages. The first two documents have multiple volumes, but all of the pages are numbered in sequence. Therefore, the volume will not be given. Record Excerpts are cited by page.

² The Circuit Court, in its statement of facts, adopts the city's rendition of facts and says that Waters Mark "contends it was negligent" in overpaying the garbage fees. Circuit Record, p. 22; Record Excerpt, p. 12. Waters Mark has never said that and obviously prefers to believe the overpayment was simply a mistake or misunderstanding. In its opinion, the Circuit Court's language in reciting facts speaks in terms of claims and contentions. The court obviously ignored the fact that the County Court jury, by its verdict, decided all of those "contentious" matters to be facts.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of Harrison County erred when it summarily held that the City of Gulfport's refusal to return money that it improperly withheld from Waters Mark was controlled by the Mississippi Tort Claims Act with almost no analysis.

The language of the Tort Claims Act is clear and resounding: it governs torts or, in the language of section 11-46-3(1), wrongful or tortious acts or omissions or breaches. Numerous sections in the act speak of the nature of the acts that the state is protected from. All of that language speaks to torts. There is no language that supports the Circuit Court's conclusion that the City of Gulfport was assessing or collecting taxes or fees or acting with proper discretion.

This Court has repeatedly interpreted the Tort Claims Act to allow claims against the state and its political entities and to bar only claims for tort damages.

Waters Mark's claim against Gulfport was based two common law theories: unjust enrichment and money had and received. Both are viable actions under current law and support a recovery from the city. Both require a showing that the city had money it did not have a right to and that it had no basis for not repaying the money. Those requirements were proven at trial and the jury awarded a verdict for the amount sought.

Finally, the County Court trial judge erred when refusing to award prejudgment interest. Prejudgment interest should be awarded where the claim is liquidated and included in the complaint, or if the denial of the demand is frivolous or in bad faith. The first two

elements are clearly present in this case and the last two are arguably present. While the decision to award prejudgment interest is discretionary with the trial judge, the discretion should not be unbridled. Where the requirements are clearly and objectively met, prejudgment interest should be awarded.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED ON APPEAL WHEN IT RULED THAT WATERS MARK'S CLAIM WAS GOVERNED BY THE TORT CLAIMS ACT.

The first issue raised by Waters Mark is legal in nature. As such, this Court applies a de novo standard of review. Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc., 826 So.2d 719, 721 (¶5) (Miss. 2002).

The Circuit Court decided this issue, on which over a ream of paper has been expended in this case alone (a four volume record in County Court alone), in two pages of analysis. Circuit Record, pp. 23-24. The court then cited the exemption provisions of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act (MTCA), section 11-46-9(1)(i), Mississippi Code Annotated (1972 as amended), denying liability for claims "arising out of the assessment or collection of any tax or fee," and section 11-46-9(1)(d) barring claims based on discretionary functions, apparently deciding that both applied. The court then noted Water Mark's argument in its brief that the MTCA applied only to wrongful acts and found that Gulfport's withholding Waters Mark's funds constituted an allegedly wrongful act and the city was therefore immune to liability. Finally the court noted that the claim was also barred because a notice of claim was necessary under the MTCA, section 11-46-11, and Waters Mark had never submitted such notice.³

³Waters Mark clearly admitted never serving notice. The question presented here and below, however, is whether the claim is covered. While failure to serve notice is normally

The straightforward question, then, is whether the MTCA controls Waters Mark's claim against the city. The Circuit Court was right in noting that the answer is found in the statutes.

A. PROVISIONS OF THE ACT

The first item to be addressed, logically, is at the very beginning: the name of the act. Title 11, Chapter 46, of the Mississippi Code is entitled "Immunity of State and Political Subdivisions From Liability and Suit for Torts and Torts of Employees." The title does not refer to contract claims, equitable claims, or anything else of the sort. It refers only to torts of the entity and its employees. Indeed, as the Supreme Court has noted, the act is referred to, almost universally, as the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. *City of Jackson v. Stewart*, 908 So. 2d 703, ¶27 (Miss. 2005).

a bar to a claim that is covered by the MTCA, the Supreme Court has said that substantial notice can suffice for the statutory notice. Ferrer v. Jackson County Board of Supervisors, 741 So. 2d 216 (Miss. 1999). In this case, there is no question that the defendant had notice of the claim due to the numerous correspondences between the parties, some of which are attached to the plaintiff's response to the defendant's motion to dismiss. See Exhibits F and H through L attached to the plaintiff's response to the defendant's motion to dismiss. They include letters between attorneys for the parties and also an acknowledgement from the Mayor of Gulfport that a conflict over the credit existed. Circuit Record, pp. 357-58; 363-68. Finally, the city acceded to a portion of the claim when it granted a substantial credit against the demand that was made. Circuit Record, pp. 357-58. Any argument by the city that it was prejudiced by lack of notice is without substance.

Section 11-46-1(a) defines "claim" as "any demand to recover damages⁴ from a governmental entity as compensation for injuries." Subsection (h) defines "injury" as "death, injury to a person, damage to or loss of property or any other injury that a person may suffer⁵ that is actionable at law or equity."

Section 11-46-3(1) establishes the legislative intent for the Mississippi Tort Claims

Act:

The Legislature of the State of Mississippi finds and determines as a matter of public policy and does hereby declare, provide, enact and reenact that the "state" and its "political subdivisions," as such terms are defined in Section 11-46-1, are not now, have never been and shall not be liable, and are, always have been and shall continue to be immune from suit at law or in equity on account of any wrongful or tortious act or omission or breach of implied term or condition of any warranty or contract, including but not limited to libel, slander or defamation, by the state or its political subdivisions, or any such act, omission or breach by any employee of the state or its political subdivisions, notwithstanding that any such act, omission or breach constitutes or may be considered as the exercise or failure to exercise any duty, obligation or function of a governmental, proprietary, discretionary or ministerial nature and notwithstanding that such act, omission or breach may or may

⁴Damages is not defined in the statute, but elsewhere as, "A pecuniary compensation or indemnity, which may be recovered in the courts by any person who has suffered loss, detriment, or injury, whether to his person, property, or rights, through the unlawful act or omission or negligence of another. A sum of money awarded to a person injured by the tort of another. Restatement, Second, Torts, §12A." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 351-2 (5th ed. 1979).

⁵While the word "suffer" has a common usage, it is defined for legal purposes as "to have the feeling or sensation that arises from the action of something painful, distressing or the like; to feel or endure pain The customary use of the word indicates some experience of conscious pain." BLACK'S LEGAL DICTIONARY 1284 (5th ed. 1979).

not arise out of any activity, transaction or service for which any fee, charge, cost or other consideration was received or expected to be received in exchange therefor. (Emphasis added)

The operative language "on account of any wrongful or tortious act or omission or breach of implied term or condition of any warranty or contract" is the crux of the plaintiff's claim that there is no coverage under the MTCA for its claims. "Act, omission, and breach of implied term or condition of any warranty or contract" are three separate types of conduct all modified by the two characterizations of the conduct, "wrongful or tortious."

This statement is rendered graphically as follows:

CHARACTERIZATION		
OF CONDUCT		TYPE OF CONDUCT
	}	
	}	
	}	act
wrongful	}	
	}	or
	}	
or	}	omission
	}	
	}	or
tortious	}	
	}	breach of implied term
	}	or condition of any
	}	warranty or contract
	}	•
	}	

The language of the statute requires a wrongful act, omission, or breach, tantamount to a tortious act, omission, or breach. Absent such conduct (act, omission, or breach) which falls within the statutory characterizations (wrongful or tortious), the provisions of the Tort Claims Act are not invoked.⁶

Section 11-46-5(1) speaks of immunity "from claims for money damages arising out of the *torts* of such governmental entities and the *torts* of their employees acting within the course and scope of their employment. . . ." Subsection (2) denies that an employee is acting

To the contrary, however, is the fact that section 11-46-3(1) refers to the "type of conduct" three further times, lumping all three types of conduct together in these words: "such act, omission or breach." If the legislature had intended its language to be interpreted in the way the Supreme Court did in Stewart, the legislature would have said, in later references to the types of conduct, "such breach or wrongful act or omission." The language is highlighted in italics in the statement of the statute above.

Of significance to this minor point is the number of rulings that were abrogated or modified as a result of the later *Stewart* decision, including the earlier *Stewart* decision. In the end, however, all of the reasoning did not change the outcome of *Stewart*, and the claim was sustained.

Furthermore, no attention was given to the point that wrongful or tortious breach of contract requires something more than a breach; it requires, "in addition, some intentional wrong, insult, abuse, or negligence so gross as to constitute an independent tort." Southern Natural Gas Company v. Fritz, 523 So.2d 12, 19-20 (Miss. 1987), quoted in Braidfoot v. William Carey College, 793 So.2d 642, 655 (Miss. 2000). That would equate to a wrongful or tortious act or omission and would be covered by the MTCA, just as in the Stewart case.

⁶Appellant understands that the argument articulated here flies in the face of the holding announced in *City of Jackson v. Stewart*, 908 So. 2d 703, ¶¶ 27-42 (Miss. 2005). That opinion stated, as the crux of its reasoning, that acceptance of the this appellant's argument "would require [the conclusion] that, by specifically including a tortious breach of *implied* contract, the language of the statute intended to exclude breach of *express* contract. Otherwise, there would be have been no purpose in including the word 'implied.' "The Court concludes that "there is nothing in the language of the statute to lead us to conclude that 'a breach of an implied term or condition of any warranty or contract' must be tortious." ¶37.

within the course and scope of employment if he or she is guilty of fraud, malice, libel, slander, defamation or any criminal act other than a traffic ticket.

Section 11-46-11(3) in establishing the statute of limitations for the MTCA requires that "all actions brought under the provisions of this chapter shall be commenced within one (1) year next after the date of the tortious, wrongful or otherwise actionable conduct on which the liability phase of the action is based"

Section 11-46-17 establishes the "Tort Claims Fund," and provides for increased exposure for liability insurance that is purchased. Finally, section 11-46-18 establishes the "Mississippi Tort Claims Board."

The purpose of this exposition of the various statutes making up the Mississippi Tort Claims Act is to show that the actions contemplated by the act are specifically torts or "civil wrongs" as our civil justice system defines them. However, civil wrongs and torts make up only a small portion of all of the types of suits that can be brought. Those that are not "torts" are outside of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act.

B. THE ACT AS INTERPRETED BY THE SUPREME COURT

Given the definitions in section 11-46-1, one might for a moment argue that the definition of "injury" is so all-encompassing that it would include any suit in which a recovery was sought. That argument has been made and has not long survived.

In Greyhound Welfare Foundation v. Mississippi State University, 736 So. 2d 1048 (Miss. 1999), the plaintiff sought replevin of several greyhound dogs the university had

acquired. The chancellor dismissed the case holding that the MCTA barred the action. The Supreme Court reversed. It cited its holding in *Fordice v. Thomas*, 649 So. 2d 835, 839-840 (Miss. 1997), "that the Mississippi Tort Claims Act applies only to suits for torts for money damages."

The question before us is whether via the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, Miss. Code Ann. §§ 11-46-1 to -23 (Supp. 1998), the State of Mississippi has lawfully proscribed actions against itself for the return of private property allegedly wrongfully acquired by the State or its agencies or institutions. The lower court found that the state was immune from this replevin action. Greyhound Welfare Foundation does not seek money damages in the instant action, but seeks the return of property which it claims is wrongfully held by the State, and a judgment of possession of the same. Greyhound Welfare Foundation is entitled to be heard on this cause of action against the State.

The Chancellor's interpretation of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act was incorrect, and the order of dismissal entered in the lower court, which is based solely on sovereign immunity, was erroneous. The broad reading given by the lower court would unduly restrict the rights of citizens to challenge the allegedly improper acts of the State and extend the doctrine of sovereign immunity far beyond its traditional common law scope and beyond the intent of the Legislature.

736 So. 2d at 1049. Accord, Fordice v. Thomas, 649 So. 2d 835, 839-840 (Miss. 1997), (legislative intent expressed in section 11-46-3 renders MTCA inapplicable since plaintiff's claim against the governor was not based on tort damages); USPCI of Mississippi, Inc. v. State of Mississippi ex rel. McGowan, 688 So. 2d 783, 789 (Miss. 1997)(mandamus action; "sovereign immunity is limited to tort claims").

Because Waters Mark's claim is not one for contract, further discussion of the application of the language regarding contracts as tortious or wrongful acts is omitted.

C. ANALYSIS

The *Greyhound Welfare Foundation* case is especially pertinent to Waters Mark's claim in this matter. The Waters Mark complaint seeks return of an amount of money. While cash is certainly fungible, the claim is for an exact amount sought to be returned, and that is the same amount that was mistakenly delivered to the city. While a replevin action is not identical to an action for money had and received or for unjust enrichment, the similarities are obvious. Waters Mark might have brought this action as a replevin action seeking return of its property that the city holds without any justification.

The claim might also have been made as one for *quantum meruit*. While that theory is usually reserved for cases involving fees or wages, *Estate of Fitzner v. Jurotich*, 881 So.2d 164, 173-4, ¶25 (Miss. 2003), seems to equate *quantum meruit* with unjust enrichment.

The claims Waters Mark made against the city were for money had and received and unjust enrichment.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has defined the concept of unjust enrichment and explained the application of that equitable doctrine as follows:

Unjust enrichment is an equitable remedy closely associated with "implied contracts" and trusts. In *Hans v. Hans*, 482 So.2d 1117 (Miss. 1986), the Court said:

"The doctrine of unjust enrichment or recovery in quasi-contract applies to situations where there is no legal contract but where the person sought to be charged is in possession of money or property which in good conscience and justice he should not retain but should deliver to another, the courts imposing a duty to refund the money or the use value of the property to the person to whom in good conscience it ought to belong." 482 So.2d at 1122.

Koval v. Koval, 576 So. 2d 134, 136 (Miss. 1991)(quoting from Estate of Johnson v. Adkins, 513 So.2d 922 (Miss. 1987)). See also Milliken & Michaels, Inc., v. Fred Netterville Lumber Company, 676 So. 2d 266, 269-71 (Miss. 1996)(majority and concurring opinions)(unjust enrichment also likened to restitution; Justice Sullivan concurring).

The other basis on which Waters Mark sought recovery was money had and received.

The common law action for money had and received is applicable to the plaintiff's claim for repayment of the money erroneously paid to the city and withheld by it.

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