IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

)

)

)

)

1704 21st AVENUE, LTD. *Appellant*

VERSUS

CITY OF GULFPORT, MISSISSIPPI Appellee CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00228

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF CITY OF GULFPORT, MISSISSIPPI, APPELLEE

MARGARET MURDOCK Mississippi Bar JEFFREY S. BRUNI Mississippi Bar Post Office Box 1780 Gulfport, Mississippi 39502-1780 Telephone 228.868.5811 Facsimile 228.864.7145 E-mail mmurdock@ci.gulfport.ms.us Attorneys for the City of Gulfport, Mississippi, Appellee

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

1704 21st AVENUE, LTD. *Appellant*

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00228

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The plain language of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, when read in its entirety, is conclusive of the fact that the equitable claims in the instant proceeding, one for "money had and received" and one for unjust enrichment, fall within Mississippi's Claims Act (<u>i.e.</u>, <u>Miss. Code Ann.</u> §11-46-1, <u>et seq.</u> (Rev. 2002)). The Claims Act explicitly states that claims in equity are subject to its provisions. The Claims Act explicitly states that it covers wrongful acts. And, finally, the Claims Act explicitly states that, in claims related to the assessment and/or collection of fees, governmental entities are exempt from liability. The Order of the Circuit Court was right and proper on all points, including the complete failure of the Appellant to provide the required Notice of Claim, where, at a minimum substantial compliance is required.

Finally, although the City would assert that any decision regarding pre-judgment interest is premature at this time, the City would, alternatively, argue that the County Judge did not abuse her discretion in denying the Appellant's request for pre-judgment interest. It is well within her discretion to do so and the fact that liability therefore is not clear is best evidenced by the fact that two quite competent judges have reached completely different decisions on the issue of the applicability of the Claims Act to this case.

ARGUMENT

• · ·

ISSUE 1.

WHETHER THE ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT, DATED JANUARY 5, 2007, WHEREIN THE COURT FOUND THAT APPELLANTS' CLAIMS WERE GOVERNED BY THE MISSISSIPPI TORT CLAIMS ACT, WAS CORRECT AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Mississippi's appellate courts employ a *de novo* standard when reviewing questions of law, including questions concerning the application of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. Fairley v. George County, 871 So.2d 713,716 (Miss. 2004); City of Jackson v. Brister, 838 So.2d 274, 277-78 (Miss. 2003). As the central and prevailing issue in this appeal is whether the Mississippi Tort Claims Act applies to the claims asserted by Claimant, the application of the *de novo* standard of review is appropriate in this appeal.

INTRODUCTION

Section 17-17-5 of the Mississippi Code <u>requires</u> ("shall") that cities provide for the "collection and disposal of garbage and the disposal of rubbish" for all its citizens. Section 21-19-1 of the Code similarly <u>mandates</u> ("shall") that cities oversee and "provide for the collection and disposal of garbage and the disposal of rubbish" and concomitantly empowers them to "establish, operate and maintain" such system and, significantly, to "[m]ake all necessary rules and regulations for the collection and disposal of garbage and/or rubbish." Section 21-27-23 Code provides cities with the authority to "establish, maintain, and collect rates for the facilities and services offered" by a municipal "garbage disposal system." The legislative intent behind such a statutory scheme obviously is to safeguard public health and sanitation.

÷

i

The issues in this proceeding arise out of the City of Gulfport's ("City") assessment of fees as part of such a system. Each month, for over two (2) years, the City assessed Appellant, the owner of an apartment complex, with fees for garbage collection services. These were evidenced in written assessments received by Appellant each month during this time period. Appellant filed suit when the City later (at the end of this two (2) plus year period) did not refund all of its assessments. Appellant claimed entitlement to refunds because it had hired an independent private entity (more than two (2) years previously) to provide its tenants with similar garbage collection services. Appellant complained the City's informal rule of only refunding assessments up to six (6) months from the time when an owner presented proof to demonstrate it had earlier retained a reputable private entity to perform garbage collection services (to opt out of the City's system) during that or a longer time period was unfair and inequitable. See T.Vol.I, 94-95. For obvious public health and sanitation concerns, the City could not release owners from their participation in the City's system or their obligation to pay the City's assessments for same until or unless they presented the City with proof that a reputable private company was in fact providing them with adequate services. There was no law requiring the City to allow residential owners the ability to do this in the first place. The evidence presented at trial showed that at no time prior to May 2001 did anyone on behalf of Appellant ever present such proof to the City or even legitimately object to being assessed for garbage collection by the City. See T.Vol.I, 124-125. Again, Appellant was suing for assessments paid from March 1999 to May 2001.

It is against this back drop that Appellant claimed some sort of right to the fees it paid the City for more than two (2) years for garbage collection service. Appellant's

i

1

theory at trial was that the City wrongfully assessed and collected such fees when the garbage collection service was not provided in return. Either Appellant was arguing the legislative scheme to safeguard public health and sanitation by creating municipal garbage disposal systems was improper or invalid and the City should not have been assessing Appellant for such service in the first place or Appellant was complaining about the quality of service it received (or lack thereof) within the City's garbage collection system. Either way, Appellant had no legal claim against the City.

THE CLAIMS ACT

As the threshold issue concerning Appellant's claims falls squarely on whether

the Mississippi Tort Claims Act applies to those claims, a review of the Act and its

provisions is in order. In Mississippi, claims seeking recovery for damages or injury

against municipal corporations, such as the City of Gulfport, are governed by the "Tort

Claims Act," enumerated at Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-1, et seq. (Rev. 2002) ("Claims

Act"). In Section 11-46-3 (1), the Mississippi Legislature set out its legislative intent as

respects the Act thusly:

The Legislature of the State of Mississippi finds and determines as a matter of public policy and does hereby declare, provide, enact and reenact that the "state" and its "political subdivision," as such terms are defined in Section 11-46-1, are not now, have never been and shall not be liable, and are, always have been and shall continue to be **immune from** suit at law or in equity on account of any wrongful or tortious act or omission or breach of implied term or condition of any warranty or contract, including but not limited to libel, slander or defamation, by the state or its political subdivision, or any such act, omission or breach by any employee of the state or its political subdivision, notwithstanding that any such act, omission or breach constitutes or may be considered as the exercise or failure to exercise any duty, obligation or function of a governmental, proprietary discretionary or ministerial nature and notwithstanding that such act, omission or breach may or may not arise out of any activity, transaction or service for which any fee, charge, cost or other consideration was received or expected to be received in exchange therefor.

Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-3 (Rev. 200) (emphasis added). As Miss. Code Ann. §

11-46-7 (Rev. 2002) sets out:

į

i

[t]he remedy provided by this chapter against a governmental entity or its employee is exclusive of any other civil action or civil proceeding by reason of the same subject matter against the governmental entity or its employee or the estate of the employee for the act or omission which gave rise to the claim or suit; and any claim made or suit filed against a governmental entity or its employee to recover damages for any injury for which immunity has been waived under this chapter shall be brought only under the provisions of this chapter, notwithstanding the provisions of any other law to the contrary.

Furthermore, "[c]laim" is defined by the Mississippi Legislature for purposes of the Tort Claims Act as being "**any demand** to recover damages from a governmental entity as compensation **for injuries**." <u>Miss. Code Ann.</u> §11-46-1(a) (Rev. 2002). "Injury" is defined under this Act to be "death, injury to a person, **damage to or loss of property** or any other injury that a person may suffer that is actionable at law or equity." <u>Miss. Code Ann.</u> § 11-46-1(h) (Rev. 2002). (Emphasis added).

Read together, these provisions of the Claims Act are most instructive and expressly support the Circuit Court's finding concerning the applicability of the Claims Act. Importantly, they tell us that the Claims Act is the <u>exclusive</u> remedy against a governmental entity for <u>any and all civil actions</u> and grants that governmental entity <u>immunity from suit</u>, no matter whether the claims made against it sound in law or in equity. As Appellant notes in its brief, the claims made by Appellant against the City were "for money had and received" and for "unjust enrichment" with both claims founded on the assertion that the City assessed fees it should not have and collected those fees when it should not have. As Appellant further notes in its brief, both of these are equitable claims. As such, these claims are just the type of claims envisioned

by the legislature to be under the purview of the Claims Act.

.

ŝ.

r

ç

,

к. ,

i.

: . 1. .

Ι.

Appellant makes a great deal out of the fact that the Act under which these claims fall is entitled the "Mississippi Tort Claims Act". In fact, Appellant opens its discussion of the provisions of the act with reference to the name of the Claims Act. After a diligent search, the undersigned has not been able to locate any statute or case law that provides that the name or title of an act outweighs or supercedes provisions contained in that act. Appellant also attempts to "make hay" out of various and sundry other names or titles included in the act, such as the "Tort Claims Fund" established in Section 11-46-17 and the "Mississippi Tort Claims Board" that is established in Section 11-46-18 and out of various references in the Claims Act to the word "tort" or "tortious". Torts, per the Appellant, are "civil wrongs" and it is only "civil wrongs" that are contemplated by the Claims Act. Unfortunately, Appellant's argument files in the fact of the very language of the Claims Act which unequivocally states that pursuit of a claim under the Claims Act "against a governmental entity... is exclusive of **any other** civil action or civil proceeding...." Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-7(1) (Rev. 2002) (emphasis added). The remedies provided by the Claims Act against a governmental entity are not exclusively tied to "civil wrongs", but rather to any "civil action" or "civil proceeding". There can be no doubt the Act applies to claims to recover loss of property actionable in **equity**, including Appellant's action for compensation for fees assessed and/or collected against it by the City. Appellant makes this argument because it has classified its claims as one for "money had and received" and one for unjust enrichment and such causes of action are in equity. In the end, no matter how Appellant construes it and as the County Court first held, the underlying nature of Appellant's claims, either at law or in equity, made them unmistakably governed by the

Claims Act.

:

ì

Notwithstanding, Claims Act directly and pointedly addresses whether a party's characterization of a claim plays any role in whether an asserted claim falls under the dictates of the Claims Act. Indeed, the Claims Act expressly provides that its coverage is not encumbered by personal characterizations or labels. Instead, coverage of the Act applies

notwithstanding the nature of the claim, the label or other characterization the claimant may use to describe it, or the provisions of any other statute of limitations which would otherwise govern the type of claim or legal theory if it were not subject to or brought under the provisions of this chapter.

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(3) (Rev. 2002). Such controlling language is similarly accepted by other jurisdictions in construction of other Claims Acts. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Hassan v.</u> <u>Louisiana DOT and Development</u>, 923 F.Supp. 890, 894-95 (W.D.La. 1996); <u>Karlen v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 727 F.Supp. 544, 546 (D.S.D. 1989); <u>Bosco v. U. S. Army Corps. of</u> <u>Engineers</u>, 611 F.Supp. 449, 453 (D.C.Tex. 1985).

Having established that claims sounding in equity are covered by the Claims Act, we must next look to whether there was a "wrongful or tortious act or omission or breach of implied term or condition of any warranty or contract" giving rise to the equitable claims made by Appellant. <u>Miss. Code Ann.</u> § 11-46-3(1). The Circuit Court, in a concise, but direct opinion, notes that Appellant bases its claim on the propositions that the "City should not have assessed fees for Appellant's participation in the city's municipal garbage disposal system and that the City should not have collected such fees when it did not provide service in return." RE 12. Put another way, the lower court points out that the Appellant has alleged two wrongful acts on the part of the

City: wrongful assessment of fees for participation in the City's municipal garbage disposal system and wrongful collection of those fees when the City [allegedly] did not provide serve in return. Appellant certainly could not allege that the city's acts were right and proper. It is part and parcel of the Appellant's case that the City acted wrongfully.

Indeed, Appellant went to great lengths to offer testimony during trial to show the City did not provide any service in return for Appellant's payment of fees/assessments for this time period. <u>See e.g.</u>, T.Vol.I, 97-98 ("I don't think they should bill for some service they never provided"), 115-116 (no curbside garbage collection provided by the City), 121-123 (<u>id.</u>), 126-130 (<u>id.</u>). This underscores the true nature of Appellant's claims: the City acted improperly toward Appellant by charging monies for which no service was provided in return. There can be but one conclusion on the characterization of such actions or omissions: they were "wrongful."

As demonstrated by uncontroverted evidence at trial, though, the City no longer had the monies paid to it by Appellant; that is, such monies had been "converted."⁶ <u>See id.</u>, 147-148 ("every penny that comes in [to the City from assessments] goes out [to pay an entity for curbside service]"). Moreover, there was no evidence the City unjustly enriched itself. Accordingly, and although Appellant fails to address this head on, Appellant's claims were for "wrongful" acts or omissions attributed to the City and under Appellant's own arguments were governed by the Claims Act. <u>See First Nat.</u> <u>Bank of Jackson v. Huff</u>, 441 So. 2d 1317, 1322 (Miss. 1983) (money judgment for

ì

Ι.

⁶A claim for "conversion" is a tort action at law. <u>See Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. Blakeney</u>, 353 So. 2d 769, 772 (Miss. 1978); <u>see also Bank of New Hamp. v. U. S.</u>, 115 F.Supp. 214, 221 (D.N.H. 2000) (holding conversion claim barred as being claim "arising in respect of the assessment or collection of any tax" under claims act immunity provision).

damages awarded in restitution case where trace of converted monies did not result in monies or any fruits of such monies being found).

Interestingly, Appellant avoids labeling the acts or omissions it attributes to the City as being "rightful" or "wrongful." By so doing, Appellant hopes to avoid having the Court realize that it must, under Appellant's own argument, make such a determination. Appellant contended at trial that the City had "improperly" assessed it fees for a governmental service that it did not provide (<u>i.e.</u>, garbage collection). <u>See</u> T.Vol. II, 217-18. This certainly sounds like an indictment of "wrongful" acts or omissions.

The Circuit Court agreed with the Appellant's assertions, and found that the assessment and collection of the fees in question constituted a wrongful act, which further supports the Circuit Court's ultimate finding that the Claims Act applied to the claims asserted by Appellant. The Circuit Judge was most correct in finding that the provisions of the Claims Act applied to the allegations in the complaint filed by Appellant. As such, the City would assert that the Circuit Court's findings in that regard should not be disturbed on appeal and should be affirmed.

ı.

ι

i

l

ŀ

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